RECEIVED

08-25-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN.

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Milwaukee County Case No. 13-CF-3214

v.

MATTHEW TAYLOR,

Appeal No. 2016-AP-682-CR

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction and Denial of Post-Conviction Relief entered in the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, The Honorable Stephanie M. Rothstein, Circuit Judge, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT MATTHEW TAYLOR

JEFFREY O. DAVIS State Bar No. 1011425 JAMES E. GOLDSCHMIDT State Bar No. 1090060 PATRICK PROCTOR-BROWN State Bar No. 1091326

QUARLES & BRADY LLP

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Should Mr. Taylor's conviction have been overturned and a new trial granted on the basis of new evidence, or, in the alternative, should the trial court have granted Mr. Taylor's lesser request for an evidentiary hearing in light of the new evidence presented?

Answered below: Without holding any evidentiary hearing as requested, the trial court summarily denied Mr. Taylor's request for a new trial.

2. Should Mr. Taylor's conviction have been overturned and a new trial granted on the basis of ineffective assistance of counsel, or, in the alternative, should the trial court have granted Mr. Taylor's lesser request for a *Machner* hearing?

Answered below: Without holding a Machner hearing as requested, the trial court summarily denied Mr. Taylor's request for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Matthew Taylor appeals from his convictions of first degree reckless homicide, first degree reckless injury, and adjudicated delinquent in possession of a firearm. The shooting underlying each of these convictions involved two eyewitnesses, whose testimony was the only direct evidence offered in support of the State's theory that Mr. Taylor was the shooter. No other direct evidence established that Mr. Taylor was the triggerman, and the remaining circumstantial evidence only showed that Mr. Taylor himself was shot—*not* that he was the shooter.

This distinction is critical because both eyewitnesses agreed that there were *two* men present when shooting began, but the bullets recovered at the scene showed that only one of the men shot a gun that night. Thus it was not enough for the State to prove that Mr. Taylor was injured near the crime scene; it was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he pulled the trigger of the gun that killed one victim and injured another.

The State has not done that, so Mr. Taylor should be granted a new trial. Short of that, Mr. Taylor seeks an evidentiary hearing based on new, exonerating evidence, and a *Machner* hearing addressing his claim for ineffective assistance of counsel—both of which the trial court denied.

I. Mr. Taylor's Arrest, Trial, and Conviction

In the early morning hours of July 11, 2013, shots rang out near the intersection of 15th Street and Concordia Avenue on Milwaukee's North side. (R.69 at 7-9, 54-55). Three individuals in a gray 2010 Mazda had come to the neighborhood looking for drugs. (*Id.* at 22-24). After the gunfire, one of these individuals (Gabriel Contreras, the front-seat passenger) was dead, the second (Anthony Bachman, the driver and Gabriel's brother-in-law) was injured, and the third (Yujawana McClendon, apparently the men's guide to the neighborhood) was unharmed. (Trial Ex. 84; R.69 at 30, 63-65).

Police noticed a trail of blood leading away from the scene of the shooting, and they followed it. (R.69 at 95). A few steps along the trail, they found a baseball cap. The State later tested this cap for DNA and came up with only one match: Terry Singleton. (Trial Ex. 62; R.60, Ex. W). Further along the blood trail, the police found a black 9-millemeter pistol at the bottom of a trash can. (R.69 at 95; Trial Ex. 9). The State later tested the gun for fingerprints and came up with only one match: Terry Singleton. (R.69 at 27, 33).

The trail of blood ultimately led to a house located at 3254 N. 15th Street. There, police found Matthew Taylor, shot in the thigh. (R.69 at 107-10; R.60, Ex. B). With him was ______, and several others. (R.60, Ex. B; C). Terry Singleton was gone. Matthew Taylor was taken to the hospital, where he was subsequently arrested. (*Id.* Ex. L).

The police later caught up with Singleton and asked him about the shooting, and the gun, and his fingerprints on the gun. (R.60, Ex. M). At first Singleton told police he was sleeping at his girlfriend's house, blocks away from the shooting. (*Id.* at 1). But this was a lie: in a second interview, conducted the next day, Singleton gave the police a new story, claiming that he had been near the intersection of 15th and Concordia when he heard gunshots. (R.60, Ex. N). He said he waited until the shooting had stopped, then found Taylor lying on the ground, shot in the leg, with the black 9mm pistol nearby. (*Id.* at 1). He said he picked up the gun and threw it in the trash can, nothing more. (*Id.* at 2). The police chose not to charge Singleton, despite his fingerprint on the gun, his DNA on a hat recovered at the scene, and his inconsistent stories about his whereabouts and actions at the time of the incident. (R.60, Ex. O, W; Trial Ex. 62).

Meanwhile, the police questioned Mr. Bachman and Ms. McClendon, the only two eyewitnesses to the shooting. In their initial descriptions, each agreed they had been approached by two black males, and that one of them had been the shooter. They agreed on little else:

- Mr. Bachman described (1) a black male 6 feet tall, weighing 130-140 pounds, with clean-cut short hair and no facial hair, wearing white shorts and a black pullover-type hooded sweatshirt with red writing on the front; and (2) a black male, 5'10" tall, weighing 160 pounds, with shoulder-length tight braids and a close-cut beard, wearing a white t-shirt and white shorts. (R.60, Ex. P, Q, S).
- By contrast, Ms. McClendon described (1) a black male, 5'3" tall, weighing 145 pounds, with short hair and wearing blue jeans and a black zip-up hooded sweatshirt with white writing on it; and (2) a black male, between 5'5" and 5'7" tall, weighing 230 pounds, with wavy hair and wearing a white t-shirt, white jeans, white tennis shoes, and a black hat. She thought this suspect was armed. (R.60, Ex. R; *but see id.* Ex. S at 3 ("height and weight unknown")).

Mr. Bachman's initial description was taken by two different officers minutes after he had been shot—once as soon as police arrived on the scene (R.60, Ex. P), and once in the ambulance on the way to Froedtert Hospital (*id.* Ex. Q). Ms. McClendon's initial description was also taken by two different officers, once after being awakened in the middle of the night at St. Mary's Hospital 24 hours after the shooting (*id.* Ex. S), and once the evening after the shooting (*id.* Ex. R).

In a subsequent interview, Mr. Bachman told police that he needed glasses to see. (R.60, Ex. A at 0:06:00). At trial, Mr. Bachman would admit that as between the two individuals he recalled seeing, *he could not definitively say which one was the shooter*. (R.69 at 73). At trial, Ms. McClendon would admit that she had not been wearing her glasses at the time of the shooting, and that she observed the majority of the incident from behind an infant car seat as she crouched in the back seat of the Mazda. (*Id.* at 37, 41).

Nevertheless, the police wasted no time putting photo arrays in front of Ms. McClendon and Mr. Bachman. After being interrogated until after 4:00 a.m. on the morning of July 11th, between 7:00 p.m. and 9:00 p.m. the same day Ms. McClendon was shown photo arrays targeting both Matthew Taylor and another suspect who had been arrested that morning. (R.60, Ex. R at 2-3). Between the end of her interrogation at 4:00 a.m. and the beginning of the photo array at 7:00 p.m., Ms. McClendon had also been taken to St. Mary's Hospital for medication. (*Id.* at 1). After McClendon viewed the photo array once and did not identify anyone, the police urged her to view it a second time; this time, she identified Taylor. (*Id.* at 2). Singleton was not included in the photo array, nor was he included in a

second photo array shown to McClendon approximately 15 minutes later. (*Id.* at 4; Trial Ex. 70-72). When McClendon was later given the opportunity to view Singleton in a live lineup, she told police that he resembled one of the perpetrators. (R.60, Ex. X at 1; *id.* Ex. Y at 1).

Mr. Bachman was first interrogated at 9:10 a.m. on July 11th, while still in a bed at Froedtert Hospital recovering from surgery. (R.60, Ex. T). Mr. Bachman was medicated with hydromorphone. (*Id.* at 3). He provided physical descriptions similar to his previous descriptions, but was not shown a photo array at that time. (*Id.*)

The next day, while Bachman was still medicated with hydromorphone, two detectives interviewed him a second time. (R.60, Ex. A, U). At the beginning of this interview, Mr. Bachman did not even know what day of the week it was. (R.60, Ex. A at 0:01:10). At the end of a nearly two-hour interview, Mr. Bachman was shown two photo arrays targeting Mr. Taylor and another suspect. (*Id.* at 1:39:40-1:54:00). The first photo array consisted of eight folders, two of which were blank. (*Id.*) After viewing the photo in Folder #1, Bachman said the photo looked like one of the perpetrators, but asked to come back to it. (*Id.*) He similarly expressed uncertainty as to Folder #2. (*Id.*) Folder #3 was a "definite no."

(*Id.*) Then Bachman came to Folder #4. He said: "That looks like the shooter." But then he hesitated: "His hair's a little longer . . ." (*Id.*) The detectives began prompting:

Mueller: The hair in the picture looks a little longer than what

you recall? But that looks like the guy you

remember?

Villarreal: With the black hoodie?

Mueller: What looks so... is it his facial -- What about him

looks so --?

Bachman: His facial structure. . . like, his cheekbones and how

his face is.

Mueller: So that's the guy that shot you and Gabriel?

Bachman: I think so.

Mueller: By law, we have to show you the other ones, too...

(*Id.*) The officers went on to show Bachman the remaining folders; in less than thirty seconds, he circled "No" for Folder #5 and #6, and Folder #7 and #8 were blank. (*Id.*)

At the end of the array, Bachman was asked: "Now, Four is the guy that you identified. But you did indicate you wanted to go back to #1 and #2. Is there a need to go back to them?" (*Id.*) Bachman said there was, then went back and circled "No" for both. (*Id.*) The police told Bachman to sign and date the back of the photo in Folder #4. (*Id.*) They then told him to circle "I have (<u>identified</u>) / (not identified) a perpetrator in this

offense" on the photo array form, and to fill in "#4" in the blank following "The photo I identified was contained in folder . . ." (*Id.*)

The officers then prepared to show Mr. Bachman a second photo array. Before doing so, however, Detective Mueller spent time heavily reinforcing Bachman's previous identification:

Mueller:

We're almost done. I can see that you're getting pretty tired. I don't know if you noticed it, Anthony, but I observed that when you opened #4, you started breathing a lot faster, and you, like, gripped that thing extra tight. We watch for signs like that just because it kind of gives us an idea of -- sometimes we have people that don't want to identify somebody, or they're afraid or they're just not sure -- but I think Erik noticed it, too. . .

Villarreal: Oh yeah.

Mueller:

When you saw that, I don't know if you even felt it, but your body started changing -- it was visible, your breathing got more rapid, and stuff. To us, that usually indicates somebody has a positive recollection.

(*Id.*) Then the second photo array began. Just as Bachman was about to open the first folder, Detective Mueller reiterated, "You don't have to identify anybody. I just wanted to make you aware that that's a normal response we see when that happens, with some people. Same rules apply now; here's #1." (*Id.*) Not surprisingly, within approximately ninety seconds, Bachman quickly worked his way through the second photo array, circling "No" for every folder. (*Id.*)

In the first photo array, the photo in Folder #4 was of Matthew Taylor. (R.49, Ex. 4; A-App. 094-096). Terry Singleton was not included in either photo array. (*Id.*; A-App. 097-099).

While the State would make much of these identifications at trial, subsequent statements by both Mr. Bachman and Ms. McClendon cast significant doubt on their reliability. On two separate occasions, Mr. Bachman identified two other individuals as involved in the shooting. First, on July 15, 2013, Bachman was shown a third photo array. He indicated that he believed the individual pictured in Folder #1 was involved in the shooting. (R.60, Ex. AA). That individual was a Maurice M. Gaillard, a filler. (Id.; R.49, Ex. 8). Later, on September 13, 2013, Bachman viewed a live lineup of six individuals. At that time, Bachman indicated that he believed the man in Position #1 was involved in the shooting. (R.60, Ex. BB). That individual was a Kristian A. Byrd, another filler. (Id. Ex. X). When Ms. McClendon viewed the same live lineup, she told police that the man in Position #4 resembled one of the perpetrators. (*Id.* Ex. Y). That man was Terry Singleton. (*Id.* Ex. X).

In short, by the time of trial, Mr. Bachman had identified—with equal confidence—at least three separate individuals as being involved in

this two-person crime, and Ms. McClendon had told police that Terry Singleton looked familiar to her from the night of the shooting.

But the police were already focused on Matthew Taylor. When they happened to find a black sweatshirt in the basement of the house where Taylor had gone after being shot, Taylor became their primary suspect. Later the State Crime Lab confirmed that the only blood and DNA on the sweatshirt were Taylor's; none of the victim's blood or DNA was found on the sweatshirt. (Trial Ex. 62). At trial, the lab technician could not confirm without speculating that the sweatshirt had merely been used to apply first aid to a wound. (R.70 at 69).

Along with the trail of blood (which only proved that Taylor had been shot), this black hooded sweatshirt became the focal point of trial—despite the fact that shortly after the shooting, several witnesses told police that Taylor had not been wearing a sweatshirt that night and indeed had not been wearing any shirt at all. Shatara Mobley, Lillie Jones, Jamari Holmes, and Ericka Johnson were all at the house when Taylor arrived after being shot, and told police he was not wearing a shirt that night. (R.60, Ex. C, D, E, F). Ms. Mobley, in particular, stated that Mr. Taylor "never seems to wear a shirt." (*Id.* Ex. C). Others, including Bobby Hill and Joel Davis-

Hill, said they saw Taylor wearing a white t-shirt, not a black hooded sweatshirt. (*Id.* Ex. H, I). That matched the eyewitnesses' description of the *non*-shooter. Ricky Collins and Joy Smith also saw Mr. Taylor that night and could have testified as to what he was wearing. (*Id.* Ex. J, K).

The State forged ahead anyway. On July 13th, before receiving the lab analysis of any physical evidence, ADA Kevin Shomin charged Taylor with First Degree Reckless Homicide. (R.60, Ex. V). When the lab analysis later came in, *no physical evidence linked Taylor to the shooting*. Instead, it *excluded Taylor* and *identified only Singleton*:

- As noted above, when the black 9mm pistol was analyzed, Taylor's DNA was excluded, and the only legible print on the gun belonged to Terry Singleton. (Trial Ex. 62; R.60, Ex. EE).
- DNA recovered from a baseball hat dropped at the scene belonged to Terry Singleton and no one else. (Trial Ex. 62; R.60, Ex. W).
- Similarly, investigators lifted several fingerprints from the gray Mazda. (R.60, Ex. CC). Taylor was excluded as the source of any of those prints. (*Id.* Ex. DD). A palm print on the front passenger-side door of the Mazda, where the shooter would have been standing, was unidentified and entered into AFIS for possible future identification. (*Id.*) Before trial, police never compared this palm print to Mr. Singleton's.¹

palm print belonged to Mr. Taylor, but naturally would have done so if there was a match. As such, there remains no evidence that Mr. Taylor was anywhere near the car.

- 11 -

Later, well after Mr. Taylor filed his motion for post-conviction relief, the State finally completed this comparison and represented to the trial court that the palm print did not belong to Mr. Singleton. R.43, ¶ 6. The State did not inform the Court whether the palm print belonged to Mr. Taylor, but naturally would have done so if there was a

Police did not report interviewing Mr. Singleton until September 12th, over two months after Mr. Taylor was arrested. (R.60, Ex. M). Ultimately Singleton was not charged at all; the police apparently accepted his "innocent bystander" version of events. (R.60, Ex. N, O).

By his counsel, Atty. Lori Kuehn, Taylor moved for a speedy trial, which was initially scheduled for November 18th, 2013. (R.65 at 2, 4). At the final pre-trial conference on October 23rd, however, the State was unable to proceed because much of the physical evidence still had not been tested. (R.66 at 2-3). The Court ordered that laboratory results be provided to the defense no later than November 12th. (*Id.* at 9-10). By a November 18th status conference, the State *still* had not provided complete discovery. (R.67 at 2:15-6:9). On December 2nd—two days prior to the speedy trial deadline—the jury trial commenced. (R.68).

Prior to the jury trial, trial counsel failed to move to exclude the questionable out-of-court identifications made by Ms. McClendon and Mr. Bachman. During the trial, Ms. Kuehn failed to object to a single question by the prosecutor or any testimony by prosecution witnesses—including extensive testimony by (1) Detective Mueller, who described Bachman's identification of Taylor when Bachman himself was available to testify

(R.69 at 139-156), and (2) Detective Goldberg, who described McClendon's identification of Taylor when McClendon herself was available to testify (R.70 at 71-113). And on December 5th, after three days of testimony for the State, Ms. Kuehn rested Mr. Taylor's case without calling a single witness on his behalf—not any of the individuals who could have contradicted the State's "black sweatshirt" theory, and not Singleton himself, who by that time was in jail on unrelated charges but had been included on the State's witness list and brought to court specifically to testify in this matter. (R.70 at 193; R.9; Order to Produce Terry Singleton dated December 2, 2013²; R.68 at 3-4).

On December 5, 2013, a jury found Taylor guilty of first degree reckless homicide, first degree reckless injury, and delinquent in possession of a firearm. (R.71 at 29). On January 17, 2014, Taylor was convicted and sentenced to a total of 30 years of incarceration plus 25 years of supervised release. (R.19; A-App. 001). On January 29, 2014, Taylor timely filed a notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief. (R.17). The State Public

² It appears that this order was inadvertently omitted from the circuit court clerk's list of the record on appeal. It is included in the Appendix at A-App. 157.

Defender's office was appointed for the purpose, and in March of 2015 the undersigned was appointed counsel by the State Public Defender. (R.30).

II. Denial of Mr. Taylor's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief

In October of 2015, Mr. Taylor filed his motion for post-conviction relief with the Milwaukee County Circuit Court. (R.59, 60). In his motion, Mr. Taylor argued that his conviction should be set aside and a new trial granted because he received ineffective assistance of counsel in multiple respects, two of which he reiterates here: trial counsel failed to call any of several exculpatory witnesses on Singleton's behalf, and failed to object to out-of-court eyewitness identifications when eyewitness testimony was the only direct evidence offered against Mr. Taylor at trial. (R.59 at 12-25).

In addition, Mr. Taylor argued that his conviction should be set aside and a new trial granted on the basis of new evidence introduced with his post-conviction motion. (R.59 at 10-12). Specifically, Mr. Taylor introduced a confidential affidavit from

. (*Id.*; R.36; A-App.

051). Thereafter, Mr. Taylor introduced a second confidential affidavit

from

. (R.46; A-App. 053). Both of these individuals came forward to testify despite concerns for their personal safety because of their desire to see justice done. (R.36; R.46; A-App. 051-54).

While Mr. Taylor argued that each of the foregoing issues justified a reversal of his conviction and a new trial without further proceedings, he also specifically requested (1) a *Machner* hearing, with respect to his claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, and (2) an evidentiary hearing, with respect to his newly discovered evidence. (R.59 at 27-28; A-App. 048-49). Mr. Taylor emphasized that on a motion for post-conviction relief, the trial court must hold an evidentiary hearing if the movant has alleged sufficient facts that, if true, would entitle the movant to relief. (*Id.*, *citing State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 9, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433).

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