RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 09-26-2016

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP682-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW RAY TAYLOR,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND FROM AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE ROTHSTEIN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court properly exercised its discretion when it denied Taylor's newly-discovered evidence motion.

Taylor presented two affidavits to support his claim that he was entitled to a new trial based on newlydiscovered evidence. This challenge is without merit because, as the trial court determined, the affidavits did not create a reasonable probability of a different outcome.

A. The applicable law and standard for review.

The decision whether to grant a new trial based on newly-discovered evidence is left to the trial court's sound discretion. State v. Plude, 2008 WI 58, ¶ 32, 310 Wis. 2d 28, 750 N.W.2d 42; State v. Boyce, 75 Wis. 2d 452, 457, 249 N.W.2d 758 (1977).

A defendant seeking a new trial based on newlydiscovered evidence faces an uphill battle:

[A] defendant must first prove by clear and convincing evidence that "(1) the evidence was discovered after conviction; (2) the defendant was not negligent in seeking evidence; (3) the evidence is material to an issue in the case; and (4) the evidence is not merely cumulative." State v. Armstrong, 2005 WI 119, ¶ 161, 283 Wis. 2d 639, 700 N.W.2d 98, 2005 WL 1618451 (quoting State v. McCallum, 208 Wis. 2d 463, 473, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997)).

If the defendant makes this showing, then "the circuit court must determine whether a reasonable probability exists that a different result would be reached in a trial." *Id.* The reasonable probability determination does not have to be established by clear and convincing evidence, as it contains its own burden of proof. A reasonable probability of a different outcome exists if "there is a

reasonable probability that a jury, looking at both the [old evidence] and the [new evidence], would have a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt." *McCallum*, 208 Wis. 2d at 474, 561 N.W.2d 707.

State v. Love, 2005 WI 116, ¶¶ 43-44, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62. See Plude, 310 Wis. 2d 28, ¶¶ 32-33; State v. Jones, 2010 WI App 133, ¶ 40, 329 Wis. 2d 498, 791 N.W.2d 390.

Even assuming he proved the first four factors by clear and convincing evidence, Taylor faced a high hurdle with respect to the fifth factor because, "the hardest requirement to meet is that the offered evidence in view of the other evidence would have probably resulted in an acquittal." *Lock v. State*, 31 Wis. 2d 110, 117, 142 N.W.2d 183 (1966).

Taylor had to prove a reasonable probability that a trial with the new evidence would result in acquittal. See State v. Avery, 213 Wis. 2d 228, 235-41, 570 N.W.2d 573 (Ct. App. 1997). If the new evidence would only serve to impeach the credibility of witnesses who would testify at trial, it is insufficient as a matter of law to warrant a new trial because it does not create a reasonable probability of a different result. See Simos v. State, 53 Wis. 2d 493, 499, 192 N.W.2d 877 (1972); Greer v. State, 40 Wis. 2d 72, 78, 161 N.W.2d 255 (1968); Lock, 31 Wis. 2d at 117; State v. Debs, 217 Wis. 164, 165-66, 258 N.W. 173 (1935); State v. Kimpel, 153 Wis. 2d 697, 700-01, 451 N.W.2d 790 (Ct. App. 1989).

B. The two affidavits do not create a reasonable probability of a different outcome had those witnesses testified at trial.

The trial court correctly held that Taylor failed to prove this new evidence would likely have resulted in an acquittal.

1. The first affidavit.

The first affidavit was sworn out September 23, 2015, by someone claiming to be one of the six or seven people who were inside the house where Taylor fled after being shot. The affiant saw Taylor burst into the house bleeding from his leg. Taylor was accompanied by "[a] second individual" who "did not enter the house but stayed on the porch." This second individual told the affiant "that he had just shot someone" and the gun "was in a trash can behind the house." (A-App. 51.) The affiant identified the "second individual" as Terry Singleton. (A-App. 52.) The affiant admitted, however, to not identifying this "second individual" as Singleton when questioned by police "shortly after the incident." (A-App. 51.)

The trial court was correct. This affidavit does nothing to disprove Taylor's guilt. The first obvious question is why the affiant waited over two years to identify Singleton if the affiant knew that Taylor was an innocent victim who was caught in the crossfire. The affidavit tends to bolster the credibility of a statement Singleton made to police that he came upon the wounded Taylor lying in the street with a gun next to him, he helped Taylor limp back to the house, and he disposed of the gun in a trash bin as they passed through the alley behind the house. (67:18, A-App. 136.) Singleton's statement puts Taylor with a gun at the scene, defeating Taylor's claim that he was innocently caught in the crossfire. The affidavit also begs the question why a supposedly innocently wounded Taylor would not just remain at the

scene and await the arrival of emergency personnel to attend to his wound rather than skulk bleeding through the alley with Singleton to the house down the street, disposing of the gun along the way. The obvious answer for his flight to the house: Taylor's consciousness of guilt. *See, e.g., State v. Bauer*, 2000 WI App 206, ¶¶ 5-7, 238 Wis. 2d 687, 617 N.W.2d 902 (flight is evidence of consciousness of guilt).

The affidavit also does not account for the two eyewitnesses who identified Taylor as the man in the black hoodie sweatshirt who fired multiple shots into the car at close range. The affidavit does not account for the large amount of Taylor's fresh blood soaked into the black hoodie sweatshirt with the word "Grumpy" written on the front in red and white letters that police found hidden in a corner of the basement of the house where Taylor fled.

At best, this affidavit tends to prove that Singleton also may have been a participant in the shootings. It does not diminish the eyewitness identifications of Taylor or the powerful circumstantial evidence of his involvement as a party to the crime. Under Wisconsin's party-to-a-crime statute, whoever is concerned in the commission of a crime is every bit as guilty as the party who actually committed it. Wis. Stat. § 939.05(1). One who aids and abets or conspires with another to commit a crime is guilty not only of the crime actually intended and committed, but also of any other crime which was the natural and probable consequence of the intended crime. State v. Ivy, 119 Wis. 2d 591, 596-97, 350 N.W.2d 622 (1984). See State v. Asfoor, 75 Wis. 2d 411, 430-31, 249 N.W.2d 529 (1977); State v. Cydzik, 60 Wis. 2d 683, 696-97, 211 N.W.2d 421 (1973). Therefore, even if the affiant's testimony would support the theory that Singleton was the primary actor, i.e., the shooter, Taylor would remain guilty as though he were the primary actor if he had any role at all in this botched drug deal and shooting. See, e.g., State

v. Hecht, 116 Wis. 2d 605, 624-25, 342 N.W.2d 721 (1984). At a retrial, the state would simply amend the information to charge Taylor as a party to the crime under Wis. Stat. § 939.05, and he would still be found guilty in all reasonable probability regardless of Singleton's role.

Further, the jury already knew that Singleton's fingerprint was found on the gun retrieved from the trash bin. (70:27-28.) The jury also knew, however, that the two eyewitnesses who positively identified Taylor as the shooter did not identify Singleton as the second participant. (70:114-119.) The affiant's testimony may have confirmed that Singleton disposed of the gun and may have convinced the jury that Singleton was indeed one of the crime's two participants, that would disprove Taylor's but not participation with him in this criminal venture.

2. The second affidavit.

The second affidavit was sworn out December 22, 2015, by someone claiming that Singleton told him or her in the fall of 2013 that "he had 'gotten away with' a more serious crime." (A-App. 53.) The affiant added that Singleton "did volunteer that the more serious crime was a shooting," someone was "killed" and someone else "was being or had been prosecuted for the crime." (A-App. 54.)

This affidavit does nothing to disprove Taylor's guilt. Like the other affidavit, the first obvious question is why the affiant waited over two years to report this supposed conversation during which Singleton admitted to a murder for which a supposedly innocent man was prosecuted. As the trial court held, Singleton may have been referring to his participation in a shooting other than the one on July 11, 2013. Even assuming it referred to the shooting in this case, this affidavit, like the first one, only tends to prove that Singleton was a participant with Taylor in the shooting. At

best, it shows that, unlike Taylor, Singleton got away with the shooting that they both committed as parties to the crime.

II. The trial court correctly held that Taylor failed to prove his trial attorney's performance was deficient and prejudicial.

Taylor argues that his trial attorney was ineffective for deciding against putting on any defense witnesses. Taylor maintains that counsel should have called several individuals to testify that they did not see him wearing the black hoodie sweatshirt at various points before and after the shootings. Taylor also maintains that counsel should have called Terry Singleton as a defense witness.

Taylor next argues that his trial attorney was ineffective for not moving pretrial to suppress the out-of-court eyewitness identifications of him as the shooter made by Bachman and McClendon.

The trial court properly rejected these challenges without an evidentiary hearing because the record, as supplemented by the documentary evidence and briefs submitted by the parties, conclusively shows that counsel's performance was neither deficient nor prejudicial. Taylor is simply second-guessing counsel's sound strategy, something the law does not allow him to do.

- A. The applicable law and standard for review of a challenge to the effectiveness of trial counsel.
 - 1. Review of the trial court's discretionary decision to deny Taylor's postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing.

The sufficiency of a postconviction motion to require an evidentiary hearing is a question of law to be reviewed by this Court de novo. *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 18, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334.

To be sufficient to warrant further evidentiary inquiry, the postconviction motion must allege material facts that are significant or essential to the issues at hand. *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 22, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. Taylor had to specifically allege within the four corners of his motions material facts that answer the questions who, what, when, where, why and how he would successfully prove at an evidentiary hearing that he is entitled to a new trial based on the ineffective assistance of trial counsel: "the five 'w's' and one 'h'" test. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 23. *See Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 59; *Love*, 284 Wis. 2d 111, ¶ 27.

If the motion is insufficient on its face, presents only conclusory allegations, or *even if facially sufficient* the record conclusively shows that Taylor is not entitled to relief, the trial court may in the exercise of its sound discretion deny the motion without an evidentiary hearing, subject to deferential appellate review. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶ 50, 56-59; *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶¶ 9, 12; *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310-11, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996); *Nelson v. State*, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497-98, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972).

This specificity requirement promotes "the policy favoring finality, the pleading and proof burdens that have shifted to the defendant in most situations after conviction, and the need to minimize time-consuming postconviction hearings unless there is a clearly articulated justification for them." *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 58.

2. Taylor's burden to sufficiently allege and prove both deficient performance and prejudice.

Taylor would bear the burden of proving at an evidentiary hearing that the performance of his trial counsel was both deficient and prejudicial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990).

On review of an ineffective assistance of counsel challenge, this Court is presented with a mixed question of law and fact. The trial court's findings of historical fact and credibility determinations will not be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous. See Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2). The ultimate determinations based upon those findings of fact and credibility determinations—whether counsel's deficient constitutionally and performance was prejudicial—are questions of law subject to independent review in this Court. State v. Trawitzki, 2001 WI 77, ¶ 19, 244 Wis. 2d 523, 628 N.W.2d 801; Johnson, 153 Wis. 2d at 127-28.

To prove deficient performance, Taylor would have to overcome a strong presumption that counsel acted reasonably within professional norms. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690; *Trawitzki*, 244 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 40; *Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d at 127. There is a strong presumption that counsel exercised reasonable professional judgment, and that counsel's decisions were based on sound trial strategy. *State*

v. Maloney, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 43, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583; State v. Marty, 137 Wis. 2d 352, 360, 404 N.W.2d 120 (Ct. App. 1987). See Eckstein v. Kingston, 460 F.3d 844, 848-49 (7th Cir. 2006). Decisions that fall "squarely within the realm of strategic choice" are not reviewable under Strickland. United States v. Cieslowski, 410 F.3d 353, 361 (7th Cir. 2005). See Knowles v. Mirzayance, 556 U.S. 111, 124 (2009). "Strategic choices are 'virtually unchallengeable." McAfee v. Thurmer, 589 F.3d 353, 356 (7th Cir. 2009) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690).

This Court is not to evaluate counsel's conduct in hindsight, but must make every effort to evaluate it from counsel's perspective at the time. *McAfee*, 589 F.3d at 356. Taylor was not entitled to error-free representation. Trial counsel need not even be very good to be deemed constitutionally adequate. *McAfee*, 589 F.3d at 355-56. *See State v. Wright*, 2003 WI App, ¶ 28, 268 Wis. 2d 694, 673 N.W.2d 386. Ordinarily, a defendant does not prevail unless he proves counsel's performance sunk to the level of professional malpractice. *Maloney*, 281 Wis. 2d 595, ¶ 23 n.11.

With regard to the issue of actual prejudice, Taylor would have to prove that counsel's errors were so serious they deprived him of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. *Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d at 127. He would have to prove a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the trial would have been different. A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *McAfee*, 589 F.3d at 357. *See Trawitzki*, 244 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 40; *Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d at 129. Taylor cannot just speculate. He must affirmatively prove prejudice. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 26. "The likelihood of a different outcome 'must be substantial,

not just conceivable.' [Harrington v.] Richter, 131 S. Ct. at 792." Campbell v. Smith, 770 F.3d 540, 549 (7th Cir. 2014).

Trial counsel is not ineffective for failing to interpose meritless objections or for not pursuing meritless challenges at trial. *See State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d 353, 380, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987); *State v. Berggren*, 2009 WI App 82, ¶ 21, 320 Wis. 2d 209, 769 N.W.2d 110.

The court need not address both the deficient performance and prejudice components if Taylor failed to make a sufficient showing as to either one of them. *State v. Mayo*, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 61, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115.

"Surmounting *Strickland's* high bar is never an easy task." *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 371, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 1485, 176 L.Ed.2d 284 (2010). An ineffective-assistance claim can function as a way to escape rules of waiver and forfeiture and raise issues not presented at trial, and so the *Strickland* standard must be applied with scrupulous care, lest "intrusive post-trial inquiry" threaten the integrity of the very adversary process the right to counsel is meant to serve. *Strickland*, 466 U.S., at 689-90, 104 S.Ct. 2052. Even under *de novo* review, the standard for judging counsel's representation is a most deferential one.

Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 105 (2011).

B. Taylor failed to sufficiently allege deficient performance and prejudice regarding trial counsel's decision not to call any witnesses in his defense.

Taylor accuses trial counsel of incompetence for not calling "any witnesses – not a single one" in his defense. (Taylor's Br. 33.) Taylor was certainly free to testify in his own defense that he was shot in the crossfire and did not wear the "Grumpy" sweatshirt that night. He voluntarily

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